# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

# DAVID B. KESLER, individually and LAW OFFICES OF DAVID B. KESLER, P.A.

Petitioner, CASE NO. SC00-259
v.

CHATFIELD DEAN & CO.,

Respondent.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT CASE NO.: 98-04819

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ALLAN J. FEDOR, ESQ.

FBN: 845574

FRANELL FEDOR, ESQ.

FBN: 845582

Fedor & Fedor

10225 Ulmerton Rd., Suite 8A

Largo, FL 33771

(727) 581-6100

FAX (727) 585-2232

Email: attysfedor@aol.com

RICHARD R. LOGSDON, ESQ.

FBN: 163441

1423 S. Ft. Harrison Ave.

Clearwater, FL 33756

(727) 446-8249

**Attorneys for Petitioner** 

DAVID B. KESLER, individually and

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Does the Statement in an Arbitration Award That The Claimant's Request for Attorneys' Fees Is Denied Violate the Prohibition of *Turnberry* and F.S. § 682.11 That An Arbitrator Does Not Have The Authority To Either Award Or To Deny Attorneys' Fees Unless Such Authority Has Been Expressly Conferred on the Arbitrator?
- II. Does Florida's "Two Issue Rule" Apply to Securities Arbitrations
  Where Two Or More Legal Theories of Recovery Have Been Alleged,
  Including A Statutory Theory Under F.S. § 517.301?
- III. Is It Appropriate Where Necessary For The Trial Court to Remand an Arbitration Award Back to the Arbitrators For Clarification Under F.S. § 682.10 Where There Is An Application Pending To Confirm the Award Under F.S. § 682.12?

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises out of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal (attached hereto in Appendix, No. 1) which reversed a trial court judgment that awarded attorneys' fees and expert' witness fees to Petitioner/Appellee Kesler.

References herein to the "Appendix" refer to the Appendix to Petitioner's Initial Brief filed with this Court. References to "R" refer to the original record on appeal. There is no transcript of the hearings. However, the Final Judgment Confirming NASD Binding Arbitration Award And Awarding Attorney's Fees To The Prevailing Party [herein the "Final Judgment" (Appendix, No. 2)] recites the facts, evidence and testimony related to the final hearing on August 24, 1999. (R. 56-69). Chatfield Dean also filed a Statement of Evidence ("Statement of Evidence") which summarized some of the evidence presented at the hearing. (R. 245-253).

Kesler had been the prevailing party in an arbitration proceeding against Respondent/Appellant Chatfield Dean & Co., Inc. ("Chatfield Dean") before the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. ("NASD"). (NASD Award, Appendix, No. 3) (R. 1-8, ¶¶ 9, 10, 15, 17) (R. 56-69, ¶¶ 2, 10).

In the arbitration proceeding, Kesler had asserted both common law claims and a statutory claim under Florida Statutes Section 517.301. Kesler had

also requested an award of attorneys' fees, based on Florida Statutes Section 517.211(6). Section 517.211(6) provides for an award of attorneys' fees to the party who prevails on a claim brought under Section 517.301. The parties did not agree that the NASD arbitrators could determine the issues of attorneys' fees. Counsel advised the arbitrators that they did not have the authority to either award or to deny attorneys' fees. (Appendix, No. 2) Final Judgment dated October 26, 1998, ¶¶ 2-8, 13, 19; (R. 1-8, ¶¶ 6, 8-12, 17); (R. 56-69, ¶¶ 2-8, 13, 19); Statement of Evidence (R. 245-252).

The arbitration panel rendered an award in favor of Kesler. As to the request for attorneys' fees, the arbitration award stated, "Claimants request for attorneys' fees and punitive damages are hereby denied." (Appendix, No. 3, p. 3). Kesler then petitioned the Sixth Circuit Court in Pinellas County for an award of attorneys' fees under Section 517.211(6). The Circuit Court denied Chatfield Dean's motion to dismiss at a hearing held on February 24, 1999. (R. 1-35). At the final hearing held on August 24, 1999, the Circuit Court found entitlement to the attorneys' fees pursuant to F.S. §§ 517.301, 517.211(6) as alleged in Petitioner's arbitration claim and awarded attorneys' fees to Kesler. (Appendix, No. 2) Final Judgment, ¶¶ 1-30; (R. 38-44, 56-69) (R. 245-252).

At the final hearing, Chatfield Dean did not rebut most of Petitioner's

evidence. (Appendix, No. 3) Final Judgment, ¶¶ 9, 21; (R. 56-69, ¶ 9, 21).

Chatfield Dean's motion for a rehearing was denied on November 17, 1999. (R. 225). Chatfield Dean appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal. (R. 226). On appeal, Chatfield Dean argued that there was no basis for an award of fees stated in the arbitration award. Petitioner moved to strike pages 72-224 of the record on appeal consisting of the supplemental affidavits submitted by Chatfield Dean along with its motion for rehearing. The Second District denied Petitioner's motion to strike. (R. 72-225).

On January 5, 2000 the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the award of attorneys' fees on the grounds that the trial court did not have a basis upon which to grant attorneys' fees because the arbitration award did not specify the theory upon which Kesler has prevailed. (Appendix, No. 1). On February 2, 2000 Kesler filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and the parties submitted briefs. On September 1, 2000, counsel for Petitioner argued *Moser v. Barron Chase Securities, Inc.*, Case No. 96,714 before this Court. On September 14, 2000 the Florida Supreme Court entered an Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Dispensing With Oral Argument. (Appendix, No. 4).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

#### Issue I.

This decision of the Second District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of this Court in *Turnberry Associates v*. Service Station Aid, Inc. Turnberry held that arbitrators have no authority to award fees under F.S. § 682.11, absent the parties' express waiver of the right to have the fee issue determined in court. The arbitrators violated *Turnberry* by expressly ruling that the Petitioner's request for attorneys' fees was denied. In denying fees the arbitrators improperly dealt with the issue of Petitioner's entitlement to attorneys' fees which they had no right to do. The trial court properly heard evidence, determined entitlement and awarded fees. However, the Second District reversed the trial court's award of fees because the arbitrators had not specified the theory upon which Kesler had prevailed. The Second District's decision therefore expressly and directly conflicts with Turnberry because it allows arbitrators to specifically determine entitlement, or lack of entitlement, to fees.

This decision of the Second District also expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in *Charbonneau v. Morse Operations*, *Inc.* The Fourth District held that an arbitrator exceeded his authority by

expressly denying a claim for attorneys' fees.

Relying upon its decision in *Barron Chase Securities, Inc. v. Moser*, 745 So.2d 965 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA July 21, 1999), *argued before the Supreme Court September 1, 2000*, the Second District concluded that the trial court did not have a basis upon which to grant attorneys' fees because the Kesler award did not specify the theory upon which Kesler had prevailed.

#### Issue II.

Kesler's claims involved multiple theories of recovery for the same wrongdoing, mismanagement of his investment account, including allegations of violation of F.S. § 517.301 and other common law allegations. Counsel urged the Second District to consider application of the "two issue rule." However, the

#### Issue III.

Counsel for Kesler also argued to the Second District that in light of its then recent decision in *Moser, supra*, the matter should be remanded to arbitrators for clarification under F.S. §§ 682.10, 682.12. The Second District did not order that the trial court remand the matter to the arbitration forum with orders that the arbitration panel be reconstituted "for the purpose of clarifying the award" as had been requested by Kesler's counsel.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The NASD Arbitration Award Improperly Included a Statement
Denying Claimants' Request For Attorneys' Fees; The Trial Court
Properly Heard Evidence, Determined Entitlement and Awarded
Prevailing Party Attorneys' Fees

NASD arbitration awards typically do not specify the basis for liability.

After the arbitrators have reached a decision, that decision is communicated to NASD staff. The NASD Arbitrator's Manual states:

"Once a decision is made, the staff member reduces the award to writing.

Under present law, an arbitrator is not required to give a reason for the decision."

The Arbitrator's Manual, p. 31 (Appendix, No. 5).

Similarly, the NASD Code of Arbitration Procedure provides:

"The award shall contain the names of the parties, the name of counsel, if any, a summary of the issues, including the type(s) of any security or product, in controversy, the damages and other relief requested, the damages and other relief awarded, a statement of any other issues resolved, the names of the arbitrators, the dates the claim was filed and the award rendered, the number and dates of hearing sessions, the location of the hearings, and the signatures of the arbitrators concurring in the award."

NASD Code of Arb. Proc., §10330(e). (Appendix, No. 5)

No statement regarding the basis for imposing liability is required.

Here, the NASD arbitration award improperly included a statement denying Petitioner's request for attorneys' fees. (Appendix, No. 3, page 3). Moreover, the trial court in its discretion properly heard evidence, determined entitlement and awarded prevailing party attorneys' fees. (Appendix, No. 2).

A. The Decision of the Second District, Which Reversed the Trial Court's Judgment Awarding Attorneys' Fees, Expressly and Directly Conflicts with This Court's Decision in *Turnberry Associates v. Service Station Aid, Inc.* Which Prohibits the Arbitrators from Determining Entitlement to Attorneys' Fees

Under the Florida Arbitration Code, attorneys' fees can only be awarded by a court of competent jurisdiction. F.S. §682.11. (Appendix, No. 6).

Arbitrators have no authority to determine entitlement to or award attorneys' fees, unless the parties expressly confer that authority by stipulation. *Turnberry Associates v. Service Station Aid, Inc.*, 651 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1995). (Appendix, No. 7).

Thus, the prevailing party in an NASD arbitration is required to bring a post-arbitration proceeding in court to obtain an award of attorneys' fees under Florida Statutes Sections 517.211(6) and 517.301. (Appendix, No. 6). The trial court must determine entitlement to attorneys' fees, even though the NASD

award typically does not specify whether or not the claimant prevailed on the statutory claim.

The trial court properly heard evidence, found entitlement and awarded fees. However, the Second District Court of Appeal agreed with appellant Chatfield Dean that the trial court had no basis for awarding attorneys' fees because the arbitration award did not specify the theory upon which Kesler had prevailed. The Second District therefore reversed the trial court's award of attorneys' fees to Kesler. The opinion of the Second District Court never addressed this Court's holding in *Turnberry*.

In *Turnberry*, this Court stated that arbitrators have no authority to award fees, absent the parties' express waiver of the right to have the fee issue determined in court. *Turnberry*, 651 So.2d at 1175 (Appendix, No. 7). Conversely, Kesler argues that the arbitrators have no right to deny entitlement to attorneys' fees unless the panel also specifically finds that there was no violations of F.S. § 517.301.

In the present case, the arbitration award denied Kesler's (the prevailing party's) request for attorneys' fees without specifying the basis for which such fees were denied, *i.e.* without finding that F.S. § 517.301 was, or was not, violated. Under the rule articulated by the Florida Supreme Court in *Turnberry*,

the arbitrators could not render an award of fees or determine entitlement or nonentitlement to fees.

However, the Second District allowed the arbitrators to summarily determine entitlement, or more specifically, non-entitlement to fees. The Second District decision in this case thus expressly and directly conflicts with *Turnberry*, which prohibits the arbitrators from awarding or even determining entitlement to fees.

Petitioner maintains that the problem of poorly drafted awards lies with the NASD. Further, the Petitioner should not be penalized due to NASD shortcomings in the securities arbitration process. Petitioner would ask that this Court not to set the bar so high in terms of the perfection in drafting arbitration awards so as to preclude him from justifiably receiving his prevailing party attorneys' fees under F.S. § 517.211(6).

Chatfield Dean is demanding a level of particularity and perfection in the arbitration award that simply does not exist in the NASD arbitration system. The awards are drafted by NASD staff from information provided by the panel of arbitrators on a form given to them by the NASD. These panel members are not all lawyers. Specific findings regarding statutory liability under F.S. § 517.301 are neither required nor encouraged. The award form is created by New Yorkers

for New Yorkers. The NASD staff provides the same form to panels throughout the country. Moreover, the NASD staff makes no attempt to have the award conform to the statutes or case law of a particular state, including Florida. (*See* NASD Manual and Code, Appendix, No. 5).

Chatfield Dean has seized on the shortcomings of the NASD system to preclude Petitioner from recovering the attorneys' fees he is entitled to as a prevailing party under the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act.

As Petitioner's Counsel recently argued to this Court in *Moser v. Barron Chase Securities, Inc., supra*, he has for many years attempted to get the NASD to correct the problem. There are significant problems created by the NASD's refusal to accept or favor proposed awards. The NASD's arbitration system was created by New Yorkers unfamiliar with Florida law. The NASD form used to create its awards is inadequate.

B. This Decision of the Second District Also Expressly and
Directly Conflicts With the Decision of the Fourth District in

Charbonneau v. Morse Operations, Inc., Which Found That An
Arbitrator Exceeded His Authority By Denying a Claim for
Attorneys' Fees

The decision of the Second District also expressly and directly conflicts

with the recent decision of the Fourth District in *Charbonneau v. Morse*Operations, Inc., 727 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999) (Appendix, No. 8). The

Fourth District has held that an arbitrator exceeds his authority by denying a claim for attorneys' fees.

Under F.S. §682.11 and F.S. §517.211(6) attorneys' fees can only be awarded by a court of competent jurisdiction. Arbitrators have no authority to award attorneys' fees absent an express waiver of the statutory right to have attorneys' fees decided by a court of competent jurisdiction. *Turnberry Associates v. Service Station Aid, Inc., supra*; *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Wood*, 676 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996); *D.H. Blair and Company v. Johnson*, 697 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997).

Attorneys' fees for time spent in arbitration are recoverable but only in the trial court upon a motion for confirmation or enforcement of the award. The award must be confirmed before the court can award reasonable attorneys' fees. *Lee v. Smith Barney Harris Upham & Co., Inc.,* 626 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993); *Raymond James & Associates, Inc. v. Smith,* 632 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994). Therefore, it is clear that the arbitrators did not have the authority to either award or to deny attorneys' fees unless that authority was conferred upon them by the parties.

Here, no authority was conferred on the arbitrators for them to either grant or to deny attorneys' fees. (Final Judgment, Appendix, No. 2,  $\P$  4). Their denial of fees was, in effect, a nullity, because they simply did not have such authority.

In the present case, the Second District concluded that the trial court did not have a basis upon which to grant attorney's fees because the award did not specify the theory upon which Kesler had prevailed. However, the Second District's conclusion ignored Kesler's express allegations in his arbitration claim which included alleged violations of F.S. § 517.301 and ignored the fact that the same allegations were again specifically stated in Kesler's petition for attorney's fees. (Final Judgment, Appendix, No. 2).

Furthermore, the trial court heard substantial evidence about the Petitioner prevailing under F.S. § 517.301. (Final Judgment, Appendix, No. 2). Thus the trial court properly confirmed the NASD award and properly awarded prevailing party attorneys' fees. *Id*.

Accordingly, Kesler urged the Second District to affirm the final judgment, or alternately, to order that the trial court remand the matter to the arbitration forum with orders that the arbitration panel be reconstituted "for the purpose of clarifying the award" pursuant to Florida Arbitration Code, F.S. §§

682.10, 682.12, (Appendix, No. 6)<sup>1</sup>. However, despite Kesler's request the Second District elected not to order that the trial court remand the matter to the arbitration forum even though the arbitrators would have been in the best position to determine whether or not their award in Kesler's favor was based upon his having been the prevailing party under F.S. §§ 517.211(6) and 517.301.

Petitioner argues that arbitration has increasingly become an important method of alternative dispute resolution. It is therefore important that this Court provide direction and guidance to the parties placed before arbitration tribunals by specifically stating that when an arbitration award does not specify the basis for liability the "two issue rule" applies in order to avoid an unjust result as to prevailing party attorneys' fees.

II. The Florida "Two Issue Rule" Applies To Arbitrations As Well As to Civil Actions Where The Arbitrators Fail to State Which Theories Of Recovery Upon Which They Made An Award

The trial court conducted two hearings on Petitioner's petition for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See e.g. Order, NASD Case No. 95-2976 dated November 19, 1999; Order Clarifying, Modifying and Correcting Award, NASD Case No. 98-02437 dated May 5, 2000 [both decided after the Second District's decision in *Barron Chase Securities, Inc. v. Moser, supra* and both specifically finding violation of F.S. § 517.301 after the claimants had alleged multiple theories of recovery and had prevailed.] (Appendix, No. 9).

confirmation and for attorneys' fees. The trial court had the opportunity to hear and weigh conflicting arguments and testimony.

The fact that Petitioner asserted common law claims as well as the statutory claim does not affect the issue of liability on the statutory claim. Petitioner's claim involved alternative theories of liability for the same wrong: the mismanagement of his investment account. According to the "two issue rule" in Florida, the trial court was required to assume that Petitioner prevailed on all of his claims, unless it could be shown that a particular claim was specifically rejected. *Colonial Stores, Inc. v. Scarbrough,* 355 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1978); *Treal Group, Inc. v. Custom Video Services, Inc.,* 682 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). (Appendices, Nos. 10, 11). *See also, Barth v. Khubani,* 748 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1999); *Zimmer, Inc. v. Birnbaum* \_\_ So.2d \_\_ (Fla. 4th DCA March 29, 2000) [both applying the "two issue rule" to the facts and circumstances of those cases].

Therefore, the trial court had the discretion to determine, in light of the conflicting testimony, that the language of the award denying fees was contrary to *Turnberry*. *supra* and F.S. § 682.11 and that the "two issue rule" applied.

Under this rationale alone, the decision of the Second District should be reversed and the final judgment of the trial court affirmed.

III. If a Specific Finding of Liability on a Statutory Claim Is Required to Authorize an Award of Attorneys' Fees, the "Two Issue Rule" Does Not Apply to Arbitrations and an Application has Been Made to Confirm An Arbitration Award under F.S. § 682.12, the Trial Court In It Discretion Should Remand the Case to the Arbitrators for the Purpose of Clarifying the Award Pursuant to F.S. § 682.10

As discussed above, NASD awards are not perfect and typically do not state the rationale for the award or a specific finding as to the basis for liability. Because of such lack of specificity, there is confusion as to what theory or theories of recovery apply.

In this case, the trial court properly awarded fees based upon the testimony and evidence presented at the hearings.

However, if a specific finding of the basis for liability is required, the trial court should have been directed by the Second District to remand the case back to the arbitrators for purposes of clarifying the award.

The Florida Arbitration Code provides, pertinent part:

"[I]f an application to the court is pending under s. 682.12...on submission to the arbitrators...by the court under such conditions as the court may order, the arbitrators...may modify or correct the award...for the purpose of clarifying the award."

F.S. §682.10. (Appendix, No. 6)

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