IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DAVID B. KESLER, individually and LAW OFFICES OF DAVID B. KESLER, P.A.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: SCOO-259

vs.

CHATFIELD DEAN & CO., INC.,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO.: 98-04819

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CHATFIELD DEAN & CO., INC.

John R. Ellis Florida Bar No. 041970 Rutledge, Ecenia, Purnell & Hoffman, P.A. 215 South Monroe Street, Suite 420 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 681-6788

Attorneys for Respondent, CHATFIELD DEAN & CO., INC.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal correctly found that the arbitration award provided no basis for the trial court to award attorney's fees to Kesler. The arbitration award contained no express or implied finding of a violation of Section 517.301, Florida Statutes. As Kesler concedes, because there was no contractual right to attorney's fees, a finding of a violation of Section 517.301 is the sole potential basis for an award of attorney's

⁵ Chatfield Dean's motion for rehearing submitted affidavits of its trial counsel in the arbitration, Christa D. Taylor, and of its counsel in the action for attorney's fees, R. Michael Underwood, challenging the characterization of a number of issues in the final judgment. (R. 72-224).

fees to him under Florida law.

The Court of Appeal also correctly noted that Kesler's failure to timely seek relief to vacate or modify the arbitration award arguably precluded his claim for attorney's fees in the trial court. The arbitration award contained an express denial of Kesler's request for attorney's fees, and the 90-day period allowed to Kesler to move to vacate or modify that denial had expired long before his motion for attorney's fees was filed. After the expiration of the 90-day period, the trial court was required to confirm the arbitration award according to its terms. <u>Carpet Concepts of St.</u> Petersburg, Inc. v. Architectural Concepts, Inc., 559 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Even if the arbitration award had included a finding of a violation of Section 517.301, and even if the denial in the arbitration award of Kesler's request for attorney's fees had been timely vacated or modified, the motion for attorney's fees still should have been denied as having been untimely filed. A motion for attorney's fees must be filed within a reasonable time after the final judgment. <u>Stockman v. Downs</u>, 573 So.2d 835, 838 (Fla. 1991). A delay of three months in the filing of a post-judgment motion for attorney's fees generally should result in the denial of the motion on the grounds of unreasonable tardiness. <u>McAskill Publications, Inc. v. Keno</u> <u>Brothers Jewelers, Inc.</u>, 647 So. 2d 1012, 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Kesler's motion for attorney's fees was not filed until one year after the arbitration award was issued,

and should have been denied as having been untimely filed regardless of its merits or lack of merits.

ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE ARBITRATION AWARD PROVIDED NO BASIS FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO AWARD ATTORNEY'S FEES TO KESLER.

Kesler's motion for attorney's fees pleaded entitlement to an award of attorney's fees under Section 517.211(6), Florida Statutes, and alleged that the arbitrators had found Chatfield Dean liable for fraudulent securities transactions in violation of Section 517.301, Florida Statutes, as a predicate for the award. (R. 8, 12). As Kesler conceded in his answer brief before the Court of Appeal, only a violation of Section 517.301 could serve as a basis for an award of attorney's fees under Section 517.211 (6). (AB 15). However, the arbitration award reflects not only that the arbitrators made no finding of liability on any of the four theories advanced by Kesler in the arbitration, but also that Kesler did not assert a claim against Chatfield Dean for violation of Section 517.301. (R. 18-22). The four theories of liability asserted by Kesler in the arbitration were: common law fraud and misrepresentation, and/or negligent misrepresentation; negligence and/or gross negligence; breach of fiduciary duty; and violation of Rules 1, 2, 18, and 27 of the NASD Rules of Fair Practice. (R. 19, 162).

The arbitration award reflects that Kesler requested actual damages in excess of \$137,000, plus costs, punitive damages, and attorney's fees; and that he was awarded only \$3,836, plus costs, and that his requests for punitive damages and attorney's fees were expressly denied. (R. 18-22). The Court of Appeal correctly reversed the portions of the judgment entered by the trial court awarding Kesler \$74,920 in attorney's and expert witness fees, because the arbitration award provided no basis for the trial court to award attorney's fees against Chatfield Dean pursuant to Section 517.211(6).

No single one nor any grouping of Kesler's claimed losses on stock trades totaled \$3,836. (R. 75, 92-93, 158-159). A potential basis for the specific dollar amount of compensatory damages awarded by the arbitrators may have been evidence received at the arbitration hearing that Chatfield Dean negligently miscalculated its commissions and markups on stock trades.⁶ Alternatively, the amount may have been based in part on an equitable approximation of the two settlements paid by the codefendants. In any case, nothing in the arbitration award supports the finding by the trial court of a violation of Section 517.301 by Chatfield Dean as a basis for an award of attorney's fees to Kesler.

⁶ Both Kesler's statement of claim and his proposed arbitration award asserted that Chatfield Dean had incorrectly charged markups and commissions on stock trades. (R. 81, 161).

A trial court is not authorized to retry evidence presented at an arbitration. Cassedy v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 751 So.2d 143, 150 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). There was no finding in the arbitration award of a violation of Section 517.301, and there was no basis in the arbitration award for the trial court to imply such a finding. Nor is there any conflict between the Court of Appeal's decision in this case and this Court's holding in Turnberry Associates that parties to an arbitration agreement may waive the right to have a trial court decide the issue of attorney's fees. In this case, Chatfield Dean contended that the arbitrators were not authorized to award attorney's fees based on the choice of laws provision in its contract with Kesler, and requested that the arbitrators deny Kesler's request for an award of attorney's fees accordingly. (R. 46-47, 156). On similar facts, the First District Court of Appeal found in Cassedy that the issue of attorney's fees had been submitted for decision by the arbitrators. If Kesler believed that the arbitrators had made an award on an issue not submitted to them, then his remedy was to move pursuant to Section 682.13-14, Florida Statutes, to vacate or modify the arbitration award.

Because awards of attorney's fees are in derogation of the common law, statutes awarding attorney's fees must be strictly construed. <u>Dade County v. Pena</u>, 664 So.2d 959, 960 (Fla. 1995); <u>Heindel v. Southside Chrysler Plymouth, Inc</u>. 476 So.2d 266, 269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Kesler's initial brief suggests that the absence of a finding of liability in the arbitration award on a claim which would support an award of attorney's fees is the result of the use of "form awards" by NASD arbitrators. (IB. 10-11) Not only is this suggestion irrelevant in view of the policy that statutes awarding attorney's fees must be strictly construed, it is also contradicted by the fact that the arbitration award in this case was based on a proposed award form prepared by Kesler; and by the fact that the arbitrators added an express denial of his request for attorney's fees. (R. 18-22, 160-165). The standard of review of a trial court's determination of an issue of law is <u>de novo</u>. <u>Akileh v. Elchahal</u>, 666 So.2d 246, 248 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). The absence of a finding in the arbitration award which would support the trial court's award of attorney's fees to Kesler under Section 517.211 (6) is dispositive of his claim, as stated by the Court of Appeal.

The Court of Appeal's decision follows its earlier decision in <u>Pharmacy</u> <u>Management Services.</u> In that case, the plaintiffs had arbitrated claims against a former employer on the alternative legal theories of breach of an employment contract and fraudulent inducement to enter the contract. Following an arbitration award in their favor the plaintiffs filed an action for attorney's fees based on the award. However, only the contractual claims provided a basis for an award of attorney's fees, and the arbitration award did not specify whether the amounts awarded were based on the contractual claims or the fraudulent inducement claims. Pharmacy Management, supra

at 75-76. The Court of Appeal reversed a judgment awarding attorney's fees to the

plaintiff employees, finding that:

In this case, where the arbitrator had before him two groups of claims, one of which would support an award of attorney's fees and one of which would not, the arbitrator failed to inform the parties whether his award was based upon claims which would support the later award of attorney's fees by the trial court. Accordingly, the trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees based on the arbitration award.

Pharmacy Management, supra at 76; see also, Central Florida Investments, Inc. v.

Fishkind, 660 So.2d 380 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

Kesler's initial brief attempts to avoid the dispositive effect of the inadequacy

of the arbitration award by asserting that the "two issue rule" applies to this case.

However, the "two issue rule" applies by its terms only to the submission of a general

verdict form to a jury:

[W]here there is no proper objection to the use of a general verdict, reversal is improper where no error is found as to one of two issues submitted to the jury on the basis that the appellant is unable to establish that he has been prejudiced. <u>Whitman v. Castlewood Int'l Corp.</u>, 383 So.2d 618, 619 (Fla. 1980).

Barth v. Khubani, 748 So.2d 260, 261 (Fla. 1999). The "two issue rule" has no application to the facts of this case.

Kesler's alternative attempt to avoid the dispositive effect of the inadequacy of the arbitration award is to propose that this matter be remanded to the trial court, with directions to remand the matter to the NASD with a request to reconstitute the 1995 panel of arbitrators for the purpose of specifying the basis of the \$3,836 award. <u>See</u>, <u>Central Florida Investments</u>, <u>supra</u> at 382. Instead, Kesler's remedy under the Florida Arbitration Code was to timely move for correction of the award, which he failed to do.

2. KESLER'S FAILURE TO TIMELY MOVE TO VACATE OR MODIFY THE ARBITRATION AWARD PRECLUDED HIS CLAIM FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Kesler's motion for attorney's fees was filed on March 3, 1997, one year after the arbitration award was issued on March 5, 1996. (R. 1,8). Chatfield Dean promptly moved to dismiss the action on the grounds that it was an untimely attempt to obtain review of the denial in the arbitration award of Kesler's request for attorney's fees. (R. 9-11). The trial court's denial of Chatfield Dean's motion to dismiss was reversible error.

Chatfield Dean's motion to dismiss cited <u>Sachs v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.</u>, 584 So.2d 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). <u>Sachs</u> is based on facts identical to those in Kesler's motion for attorney's fees: (1) an investor obtained a favorable arbitration

award against a securities brokerage; (2) the arbitration award denied the investor's request for attorney's fees; and (3) the investor filed a petition for attorney's fees in the circuit court more than 90 days after delivery of the arbitration award. Sachs, supra at 211-212. <u>Sachs</u> affirmed the trial court's denial of the investor's petition for attorney's fees, finding that the petition was untimely because it was filed beyond the 90-day period provided under Sections 682.13 and 682.14, Florida Statutes, and finding that the investor had made no allegations upon which an extension of the 90-day requirement could be based. <u>Sachs, supra at 211-212</u>. <u>Sachs cited Carpet Concepts</u> of St. Petersburg, Inc. v. Architectural Concepts, Inc., 559 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), holding that a trial court must confirm an arbitration award according to its terms unless a timely and sufficient application to vacate, modify, or correct the award is made under Sections 682.12-682.14, Florida Statutes. Carpet Concepts, supra at 305; see also, Broward County Paraprofessional Ass'n v. School Bd. of Broward County, 406 So.2d 1252 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

The holding in <u>Sachs</u> applies equally to preclude Kesler's action for attorney's fees. The arbitration award in this case expressly denied Kesler's request for attorney's fees. (R. 20). Kesler's contention that the issue of attorney's fees was withdrawn and was not submitted to the arbitrators does not excuse his failure to timely proceed pursuant to Section 682.14(b), Florida Statutes, providing a 90-day period for

modification of an award where:

The arbitrators... have awarded upon a matter not submitted to them... and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the issues submitted.

§ 682.14 (b), Fla. Stat. (1998).

In this case, the 90-day period in which Kesler could have requested modification of the award had expired nine months before Kesler's motion for attorney's fees was filed. Chatfield Dean had paid the arbitration award in full eleven months before Kesler's motion was filed. There was nothing in the arbitration award to "confirm" which would support Kesler's action for an award of attorney's fees, and the award contained an express denial of his request for attorney's fees which became binding and final upon the expiration of the 90-day period in which Kesler could have moved to vacate or modify that denial. Consequently, Kesler's motion for attorney's fees was precluded on this ground alone, as argued in Chatfield Dean's motion to dismiss and as noted by the Court of Appeal.

3. THE FILING OF THE MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES ONE YEAR AFTER THE ARBITRATION AWARD WAS UNTIMELY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In his response to Chatfield Dean's motion to dismiss, Kesler asserted that the one-year period of limitation of actions to confirm an arbitration award provided by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §9, applied to his motion for attorney's fees. (R. 14-

15). Kesler's answer brief filed with the Court of Appeal retreated from that position and conceded that under Florida law, a motion for attorney's fees must be filed within a reasonable time after the decision on the merits of the underlying claim. (AB. 10-11). However, Kesler's answer brief asserted that the one-year period provided by 9 U.S.C. §9 for a motion to confirm an arbitration award is persuasive authority on the issue of what is a reasonable time, and that Chatfield Dean must "...show the unreasonableness of Kesler's filing the motion for confirmation and petition for award of attorney's fees almost one year after the arbitration award was entered." (AB. 12).

Neither Kesler's position in the trial court nor his position in the Court of Appeal has any support in Florida law, nor was any case cited in support of either position. Instead, Florida law provides that "... a trial court generally should not grant a post-judgment motion for attorney's fees filed almost three months after the judgment on the merits because of 'unreasonable tardiness.'" McAskill Publications, Inc. v. Keno Brothers Jewelers, Inc., 647 So.2d 1012, 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Florida law thus presumes that a delay of three months is unreasonable, requiring the moving party to make some showing of excuse for delay in the filing of a motion for attorney's fees. In this case, Kesler has made no showing of any excuse for his delay of one year from the date the arbitration award was rendered, and of eleven months from the date the arbitration for the specific delay in the filing of his motion for

attorney's fees.

The earliest appellate decision considering the timeliness of a motion for attorney's fees under Section 517.211(6) is <u>Arceneaux v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner</u> <u>& Smith, Inc.</u>, 767 F.2d 1498 (11th Cir. 1985). In <u>Arceneaux</u>, an investor obtained a jury verdict against a stockbroker in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. Final judgment on the jury verdict was entered on May 2, 1984, and the investor's motion for attorney's fees was filed seven weeks later, on June 19, 1984. <u>Arceneaux</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1503. The district court rejected the stockbroker's contention that because the motion for attorney's fees was not made within ten days of entry of the judgment, it was untimely under Fed.R.Civ.P. 59(e), and the Court of Appeals agreed:

We agree with the district court that <u>White v. New</u> <u>Hampshire Department of Employment Security</u>, 455 U.S. 445, 102 S.Ct. 1162, 71 L.Ed.2d 325 (1982), is instructive. In <u>White</u>, the Supreme Court held that a motion for attorney's fees under 42 U.S.C. §1988 raised issues collateral to the main action, and therefore the time constraints of Rule 59(e) did not apply.

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